IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. ROILAND FERNANDEZ MEDINA, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable John A. McCarthy, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

GLINSKI LAW FIRM PLLC P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The improper exclusion of relevant evidence impacted appellant's constitutional right to present a defense and confront witnesses against him.
- 2. The Court's refusal to instruct the jury on self-defense violated appellant's constitutional right to present a defense.
- 3. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction undercut the burden of proof and confused the jury's role in the judicial process.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

- of an incident in which an occupant of the allegedly burglarized apartment shot appellant's friend while appellant wrestled with another occupant of the apartment. The trial court excluded evidence that suspected narcotics were found in the apartment. Where the excluded evidence was relevant to the res gestae of the incident, to establish bias of the State's witnesses, and to impeach the thoroughness of the police investigation, did its exclusion violate appellant's rights to present a defense and to confront witnesses?
- 2. Where there was some evidence in the record from which the jury could have found appellant reasonably believed he was about to

be injured and he used no more force than necessary to defend himself, did the court's refusal to instruct the jury on self-defense violate appellant's constitutional right to present a defense?

3. The jury's role is to determine whether the State has proved the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt, not to divine "the truth" of the allegation. Nonetheless, the jury was instructed to return a guilty verdict if it had "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Did this instruction confuse the jury's constitutional function and the prosecutor's burden so as to require reversal?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Procedural History

On April 9, 2013, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Roiland Fernandez Medina with first degree burglary, alleging that Fernandez Medina or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon or intentionally assaulted someone, and with second degree assault. The State further alleged that Fernandez Medina or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon, either a bat or a knife, during both offenses. CP 1-2; RCW 9A.52.020(1); RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c); RCW 9.94A.825; RCW 9.94A.530. The State charged Jorge Perez Barroso and Barbaro Gener Ono as Co-Defendants. CP 1.

The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable John A. McCarthy. The jury found Fernandez Medina guilty of first degree burglary and guilty of unlawful display of a weapon, as a lesser included offense of second degree assault. The jury did not answer the special interrogatories regarding the deadly weapon allegations. CP 159-63. The court imposed a mid-standard-range sentence of 48 months on the burglary conviction, concurrent with a 364-day sentence on the unlawful display charge. CP 242. Fernandez Medina filed this timely appeal. CP 249.

2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

On April 7, 2013, Snezhana Stetsyuk and DeAngelo White were visiting their friends Dijon Wiley and Kyla King at the Willow Village Apartments in Lakewood. 7RP¹ 343. Travis Swan, a neighbor, was there also, as was Wiley's two-year-old sister. 7RP 346. White was licensed to carry a firearm, and he was armed with a handgun, as he always was. 7RP 345, 397; 8RP 505. That day he was carrying a .44 caliber revolver. 8RP 505.

Sometime in the evening Wiley stepped outside to smoke a cigarette, and he started yelling at someone who had pulled his car in

•

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in 14 volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—12/18/13; 2RP—12/19/13; 3RP—1/6/14; 4RP—1/8/14; 5RP—1/9/14 (a.m.); 6RP—1/9/14 (p.m.); 7RP—1/13/14; 8RP—1/14/14; 9RP—1/15/14; 10RP—1/16/14; 11RP—1/21/14; 12RP—1/22/14; 13RP—1/23/14; 14RP—2/21/14.

behind Stetsyuk's car, which was in Wiley's parking space. 7RP 372, 399; 9RP 722. Witnesses identified the man in the car as Roiland Fernandez Medina. 7RP 374; 8RP 499; 9RP 723.

Wiley was pretty rabid about keeping people out of his parking spot, and he was amped up and angry. 8RP 551-52. His yelling and cursing caused such a commotion that he drew a crowd of onlookers in the apartment complex. 7RP 372-73, 403. When Fernandez Medina tried to explain that he would only be there a few minutes, Wiley replied that he could not park there even a few seconds. 8RP 552. Fernandez Medina complied with Wiley's demand that he move his car, and he left, telling Wiley he would be back. 7RP 376; 8RP 493. Wiley retorted that they would be ready for him. 8RP 500, 555.

The group inside the apartment resumed their activities, eating dinner, hanging out, and playing Xbox. 7RP 407-08; 8RP 503, 512. About 10 to 30 minutes later Fernandez Medina returned with two or three friends, including Lazaro Valle-Matos. 7RP 377; 8RP 505, 642. Stetsyuk looked out the front window and saw one of the men holding a baseball bat on his shoulder. 7RP 381. There was a knocking at the door. Some described it as banging. 7RP 382; 8RP 512, 642. Wiley, who was closest to the door, described it as just a regular knock, like someone coming to visit. 9RP 732, 758.

According to Stetsyuk, White, and King, they shouted to the people at the door that they had a gun and would shoot. They also warned that there was a child inside. 7RP 383; 8RP 523-24, 650. Wiley testified that there was no shouting, however. 9RP 733.

Wiley went to the door and asked who was there. 8RP 516; 9RP 732. When Fernandez Medina answered, Wiley asked "what the F you want?" 9RP 733. Wiley testified that the door was forced open, although he had told police that he opened the door. 9RP 734, 754. King testified that Wiley put his hand on the doorknob, and the door was pushed open. 8RP 643. Wiley admitted it would not take much force to open the door, and Stetsyuk believed that the door came open because it is flimsy. 7RP 383; 9RP 735. Swan testified that Wiley opened the door. 10RP 1069.

When the door opened there was the sound of a slap, following which Wiley and Fernandez Medina began to tussle, moving in and out of the apartment. 7RP 386, 389; 8RP 517, 521. Some witnesses testified that Fernandez Medina hit Wiley, but others did not see who struck the first blow. 7RP 386; 8RP 569, 643-44. Wiley said the hit was more like a brush off than a punch. 9RP 736. Wiley grabbed Fernandez Medina by the shoulders, wrapped his arms around Fernandez Medina's chest, and tried to position himself so he could throw Fernandez Medina to the ground. 9RP 735, 737.

White, who was standing near the refrigerator, kept yelling that he had a license to carry and he would shoot. 7RP 384. As Wiley and Fernandez Medina engaged in this wrestling match, Valle-Matos raised a knife, and White shot him. 7RP 387; 8RP 523, 647. Fernandez Medina, Valle-Matos, and the others with them ran off. 8RP 527; 9RP 741. White called 911, as did King, after first calling her landlord. 7RP 390-91.

Police responded, first contacting four people near a vehicle on a road adjacent to the apartment complex. 7RP 326. Fernandez Medina was kneeling over Valle-Matos, who was lying face down on the ground, bleeding. 7RP 326. Jorge Perez Barroso and Barbaro Gener Ono were with them. Barroso and Ono responded to the officers' commands to get on the ground, but Fernandez Medina kept pleading with the officers to get help for his friend. 7RP 326, 330, 333. One of the officers used a Taser on Fernandez Medina and then placed him in handcuffs. 7RP 330, 334-35. Fernandez Medina, Barroso, and Ono were taken to the police station to be questioned. Valle-Matos was transported to the hospital, where he died from the gunshot wound. 7RP 452; 9RP 851.

Police also responded to the apartment where the shooting occurred. They had everyone exit one at a time, walking backwards with their hands up. 7RP 392, 457. Police then cleared the apartment. 7RP 447.

The forensics detective identified a blood trail from outside the apartment, across the parking lot, to the car where Valle-Matos was found. 9RP 883. He marked the trail with traffic cones and took both close-up and distance photographs of the blood. 10RP 920, 938, 941. More photographs were taken inside the apartment. At trial, the forensics detective showed a photograph of the entryway on which he had drawn circles around spots he believed were blood stains. He had taken no closeup photographs of those marks on the night in question, however, or marked them in any other way. Nor had he done any testing to determine whether the marks were presumptive bloodstains rather than some other substance. 10RP 923, 929, 942, 945. There was evidence at trial that the entryway was filthy, with many substances on the floor, none of which were tested. 10RP 946. There was no indication that the marks circled in the photograph had been disturbed as the occupants of the apartment were removed one by one, walking backward through that area. 10RP 962, 1001, 1003, 1008.

Because witnesses had described seeing a bat, police searched the area near the car and surrounding the apartment complex. 11RP 1217. Witnesses had given conflicting descriptions of the bat, one saying it was brown and another saying it was black or gray. 11RP 1222. No bat matching either description was found, however. 11RP 1217.

In closing, defense counsel argued that the evidence was so inconsistent and so incredible and so incomplete that the jury should return verdicts of not guilty. 12RP 1384. Counsel pointed out that the eyewitnesses' stories did not match and argued that the police jumped to a conclusion and did little to investigate what really happened. 12RP 1384.

Counsel argued further that Wiley did not feel threatened when he opened the door and in fact it was likely he took a step outside to confront Fernandez Medina. 12RP 1393. Wiley testified that he grabbed Fernandez Medina, and if he pulled Fernandez Medina inside the apartment, there was no burglary. 12RP 1394. Moreover, the evidence did not clearly show that the confrontation took place inside. The spots circled in the photograph of the entryway, which the State argued were bloodstains, were never tested and could have been anything. The fact that the detective made no effort to identify the spots as blood stains on the night of the shooting, as he did with the blood trail outside, suggests that they were not in fact blood stains. 12RP 1395-96.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE IMPROPER EXCLUSION OF RELEVANT EVIDENCE IMPACTED FERNANDEZ MEDINA'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE AND CONFRONT WITNESSES AGAINST HIM.

Prior to trial, the State moved to exclude evidence of suspected drugs found in Wiley and King's apartment. 7RP 278. A substance was found on a plate underneath a mattress in the apartment. There were two packets of white powder packaged as drugs on the plate with straws and King's EBT card. 7RP 281. The substance was never sent to the crime lab for analysis. 7RP 279. The prosecutor noted, however, that there was evidence the reason Fernandez Medina was at the apartment complex that day was to deliver cocaine to Wiley's neighbor, and he argued that if evidence of drugs in the apartment came in, that evidence should come in as well. 7RP 280.

Defense counsel argued that the drug evidence was admissible as part of the res gestae of the crime, to explore possible bias on the part of the State's witnesses who were never charged with drug offenses, and to challenge the thoroughness of the police investigation. 7RP 281, 290-91. Counsel also noted that there was evidence Wiley was dealing drugs at the apartment complex and argued that could explain why he was so upset that

Fernandez Medina was there. Counsel argued that all the drug evidence should be admitted at trial. 7RP 282-84.

The court ruled that evidence that drugs were found or that there was any drug dealing going on was irrelevant and that the prejudicial effect of such evidence outweighed any probative value. 7RP 291. It limited the defense to cross examining the witnesses as to whether they had consumed alcohol or drugs on the night in question and in general whether they had been offered anything in exchange for their testimony. 7RP 291-92.

At trial during cross examination, White testified that he does not use drugs or hang around with people who do because he is in treatment and does not want to relapse. 8RP 588-89. Defense counsel argued that this testimony opened the door to the evidence of drugs associated with King found in the apartment. 8RP 599. The court ruled that questioning would be limited to whether he saw any drugs that night. 8RP 602. Defense did not pursue that line of questioning.

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to present evidence in his own defense. U.S. Const. Amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. This right to present a defense guarantees the defendant the opportunity to put his version of the facts as well as the State's before the jury, so that the jury may determine the truth.

<u>State v. Maupin</u>, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (citing Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967)).

Relevant, admissible evidence offered by the defense may be excluded only if the prosecution demonstrates a compelling state interest in doing so. State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15-16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). Although a trial court has discretion to determine whether evidence is admissible, a decision which is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds must be reversed on appeal. See State v. Crowder, 103 Wn. App. 20, 25-26, 11 P.3d 828 (2000), review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1024, (2001).

Evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to make the existence of a fact of consequence to the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. ER 401. Only minimal logical relevancy is required for evidence to be admissible. State v. Bebb, 44 Wn. App. 803, 815, 723 P.2d 512 (1986) (quoting 5 K. Tegland, Wash. Prac. § 83, at 170 (2d ed. 1982)), affirmed, State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 740 P.2d 829 (1987).

a. Evidence of drugs in the apartment was admissible as res gestae evidence.

Evidence which completes the story of the crime by proving the context of happenings near in time and place is relevant and admissible as res gestae evidence. State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 646-47, 278 P.3d 225 (2012). In Grier, the defendant was convicted of second degree murder. The trial court admitted evidence that on the evening of the killing, the defendant had said in a conversation with her son that she could shoot someone if she wanted to, while waving a gun around. Grier, 168 Wn. App. at 640. This Court affirmed, holding that the evidence was properly admitted as res gestae evidence. It was relevant because it completed the story of the crime on trial, making several facts of consequence more probable, including the defendant's possession of a gun at some point in the evening. Id. at 647-48. Testimony about the defendant's brandishing a gun and acting belligerently before the shooting was relevant because it showed a continuing course of action and helped set the stage for her behavior later that night. Id. at 648. The evidence "explained parts of the whole story which otherwise would have remained unexplained." Id. at 649 (quoting State v. Mutchler, 53 Wn. App. 898, 902, 771 P.2d 1168 (1989)).

In the same way, the drug evidence excluded in this case would have completed picture of events leading up to the shooting and the actions on which the charges against Fernandez Medina were based. Evidence that the occupants of the apartment were using drugs could explain Wiley's irrational and disproportionally belligerent response to someone momentarily blocking his parking space. This anger directed at Fernandez Medina would explain why Fernandez Medina felt the need to bring friends when he returned to talk things out with Wiley. Drug use could also explain why Wiley would grab Fernandez Medina and pull him inside the apartment to beat him up. Evidence that Wiley was dealing drugs in apartment complex would also explain his aggressive response when Fernandez Medina showed up to sell drugs next door. The excluded drug evidence would have set the scene for the events that followed and made Fernandez Medina's claim of self-defense more probable.

Because the proposed evidence satisfied the foundational requirement of minimal logical relevancy, it could be excluded only to further a compelling state interest. See Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 15-16. The court stated it was excluding the evidence as irrelevant and because any probative value was outweighed by the prejudicial effect of the evidence. 7RP 291. On the contrary, the evidence helped to complete the picture of events and served to counter the State's theory that Fernandez Medina was

the aggressor and entered the apartment with intent to commit a crime.

Any concern about potential prejudice to the State's witnesses is not a compelling enough reason to thwart Fernandez Medina's constitutional right to present a defense.

b. The evidence was admissible to demonstrate the bias of the State's witnesses.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to impeach a prosecution witness with evidence of bias. <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 316-18, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974); <u>State v. Spencer</u>, 111 Wn. App. 401, 408, 45 P.3d 209 (2002), <u>review denied</u>, 148 Wn.2d 1009 (2003). The bias of a witness is always relevant to discredit that witness's testimony. <u>Davis</u>, 415 U.S. at 316. Although a trial court's decision to exclude evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion, that discretion is limited by the defendant's constitutionally guaranteed right to confrontation. <u>See State v. Ellis</u>, 136 Wn.2d 498, 504, 963 P.2d 843 (1998); U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. Denying the defendant his constitutional right to impeach a prosecution witness with evidence of bias is reversible error. <u>Spencer</u>, 111 Wn. App. at 408.

Here, there was evidence that drugs were found in the apartment, which were clearly connected with King, but no drug-related charges were ever brought against her or anyone else in the apartment. Defense counsel

argued that this favorable treatment was relevant to establish bias on the part of the State's witnesses, particularly King and her husband Wiley. CP 51-55.

A similar situation was presented in <u>State v. Kimbriel</u>, 8 Wn. App. 859, 510 P.2d 255, review denied 82 Wn.2d 1009 (1973). There, the Court of Appeals found it was prejudicial error for the trial court to deny the defendant the right to establish a key prosecution witness's bias. Kimbriel, 8 Wn. App. at 865-66. Kimbriel was charged with armed robbery and car theft. He testified that he had acted under duress from one of the other participants, Charles Kaiser, and that he had no advance knowledge that Kaiser had planned the robbery. Id. at 861. In rebuttal, the State called Kaiser, who claimed that Kimbriel had in fact been the chief engineer of the robbery and car theft. Id. at 862. Defense counsel attempted to impeach Kaiser with the fact that he had originally been charged with both robbery and car theft, but the robbery charge had been dismissed. The trial court sustained the State's objection to this impeachment, however. Id. at 862. In addition, the court instructed the jury not to consider the fact that Kaiser had received a deferred sentence on his plea of guilty to car theft when determining his credibility. Id. at 863.

In finding reversible error, the Court of Appeals noted that Kaiser, an active participant in the crime, was a crucial prosecution witness. Therefore, why he was allowed to plead to a reduced charge, why the greater charge was dismissed, and why he received a deferred sentence were legitimate areas of cross examination going to his motive in testifying for the State. <u>Id.</u> at 866. The defendant had a right to develop these matters, and the jury had a right to consider them in assessing the witness's credibility. <u>Id</u>.

In this case, as in <u>Kimbriel</u>, crucial prosecution witnesses had received favorable treatment, in the form of criminal conduct going unpunished. Although King was not a participant in the crime charged in this case, she was clearly connected to drug use in her apartment, as evidenced by the presence of her EBT card on the plate with the suspected narcotics. There was also information that Wiley and King were dealing drugs out of the apartment. CP 54. The defense had a right to explore the fact that none of the State's witnesses was charged with a drug offense, as this related to their motive in testifying for the State, and the jury had a right to consider that evidence in assessing their credibility. <u>See Davis</u>, 415 U.S. at 317-18.

This Court has recognized that "the defendant should be afforded broad latitude in showing the bias of opposing witnesses." Spencer, 111

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