# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JORGE PEREZ BARROSO and ROILAND FERNANDEZ MEDINA, APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John McCarthy

No. 13-1-01482-5 and 13-1-01481-7

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
THOMAS C. ROBERTS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

## **

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

#### C. ARGUMENT.

- 1. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING WHERE HE ARGUED THE ABSENCE OF EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF THE CASE.
  - a. The prosecutor's argument was proper.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of demonstrating that the remarks or conduct was improper and that it prejudiced the defense. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 640, 888 P.2d

570 (1995), citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).

A prosecutor may properly argue that certain testimony is undenied, as long as there is no reference to who may be in a position to deny it. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 176, 892 P. 2d 29 (1995), citing *State v. Ashby*, 77 Wn.2d 33, 38, 459 P.2d 403 (1969); *State v. Morris*, 150 Wn. App. 927, 931, 210 P. 3d 1025 (2009).

"Surely the prosecutor may comment upon the fact that certain testimony is undenied ...; and, if that results in an inference unfavorable to the accused, he must accept the burden, because the choice to testify or not was wholly his"....

Ashby, at 38, (quoting State v. Litzenberger, 140 Wash. 308, 311, 248 P. 799 (1926)). Prosecutors may also comment on the defendant's failure to present evidence on a particular issue if persons other than the accused could have testified as to that issue. Ashby, at 38.

Here, the prosecutor argued:

There is no evidence that Dijon Wiley, that when the door was opened, they stepped back so that he could step out and they could get it on in the parking lot, no evidence of that whatsoever. No one testified that that happened. There was no evidence that Valle-Matos backed away from the door in order to allow the fight to be brought outside, none of them.

11 RP 1360. Indeed, there was no such evidence. There were several witnesses, besides the defendants, who could, and did testify regarding the

events. None of them helped the defendants' implausible self-defense theory. All the testimony from the victims was that the fight occurred quickly at, or just inside, the door. Two other neighbors, Jeffery Taylor and James Schlagel, testified consistently with the victims regarding the defendants arriving, approaching the victims' apartment, and the defendants' aggression. This argument did not comment on or even mention the fact that the defendants did not testify. The argument was proper.

As in the above cited cases, here, the court also correctly instructed the jury that "The defendant is not compelled to testify. You may not use the fact that the defendant has not testified cannot be used to infer guilt or prejudice him in any way." Instruction 5, CP 155. This instruction would cure any prejudicial effect or misunderstanding by the jury. *See Morris*; *Ashby*, *supra*.

b. By failing to object to the prosecutor's remarks in closing argument, the defendant waived the issue on appeal.

Absent a timely and proper objection, a prosecutor's alleged misconduct cannot be raised on appeal unless it was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have obviated the resulting prejudice. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 29, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); *State* 

v. *Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). Failure to object or move for mistrial at the time of the argument "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P. 2d 610 (1990); *see also State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 679, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).

Here, none of the three defense attorneys objected to the State's closing argument. This Court may presume that either there were no grounds to object, or counsel decided to rebut and point out the flaws and errors in the State's summaries, inferences, and conclusions from the evidence in one of their own closing arguments. If the State's argument was incorrect, defense counsel could have objected and requested the court remind the jury of Instruction 5.

The three defense counsels chose not to object or to request a curative instruction. There was nothing to object to, and nothing to cure.

- 2. THE FURNITURE ARRANGEMENT OF THE COURTROOM WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, NOR DID IT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES.
  - a. The trial court may arrange the seats and positions of the parties as conditions in the courtroom require.

The trial court has broad discretion to make a variety of trial decisions regarding the conduct of trial. *See State v. Dye*, 178 Wn. 2d 541, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). The trial court's decisions regarding the general conduct of trial are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.*, at 548. The trial court has the discretion to arrange positions of the parties and the furniture as conditions or circumstances require. *See State v. Johnson*, 77 Wn.2d 423, 462 P.2d 933 (1969). This includes seating arrangement of the parties. *Id.* However, the arrangements may not be such as to violate the defendant's right to a fair trial. *See State v. Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d 857, 233 P. 3d 554 (2010) (criminal trial held in a courtroom inside the jail).

Early in the present trial, the court noted that with three defendants and four attorneys, the area for the parties in the courtroom would be crowded. 2 RP 42. In addition the attorneys and the defendants, there was an interpreter and a legal intern. 4 RP 230, 231. The court inquired of all defense counsel if the configuration permitted them to see and hear adequately. 2 RP 43. As trial proceeded, defendant Barroso's attorney

objected to the arrangement of counsel tables. 4 RP 227. Barroso's counsel noted that an additional table had been brought in, but complained that the workspace was inadequate. 4 RP 228. The court replied that it felt the counsel tables were sufficient. 4 RP 229.

During jury selection, Barroso's counsel objected that, because of the arrangement of defendants and attorneys and the courtroom, he could not see the entire venire. 4 RP 235. The court suggested that counsel get up and move around so that he could see. 4 RP 236. Counsel seemed satisfied with that, 4 RP 236.

Just before testimony began, there was further discussion regarding the arrangement of the furniture. 6 RP 274. Barroso's counsel was generally satisfied, but wanted a longer table. *Id.* The court noted that it had spent time off the record with the attorneys re-arranging the furniture to better accommodate all the parties involved. 6 RP 275.

As photographs were displayed on a projector, another attorney voiced concern that, because of the seating arrangement, the photos were being shown directly over his client's head. 6 RP 257. The court again noted the difficulty of the crowded courtroom. The court also expressed that it was "doing its utmost to make sure that accommodations are met." 6 RP 357. The court then solicited constructive suggestions from counsel as to how the configuration could be improved for all concerned. 6 RP

358. He was trying to work with counsel to improve things. *Id.* The court went on to make a record that this courtroom was one of the largest in the courthouse; and gave its measurements. *Id.* Another time, when Barroso's counsel said he could not see a witness' gesture, the State asked the witness to repeat the testimony and motion so that it counsel could see it. 6 RP 381.

The next day, witness DeAngelo White was drawing a diagram on an easel. 7 RP 496. Barroso's counsel said that he could not see what White was drawing, because White was standing in front of the easel as he drew. 7 RP 498. The court replied that when the witness was finished drawing, counsel could get as close as he liked to the diagram. *Id.* Counsel was dissatisfied with the court's response. *Id.* Later, during the same testimony, the same attorney complained that he could not see White's explanation of testimony using the diagram because White's back was to counsel. 7 RP 501-502. The court invited counsel to inquire and clarify when it was counsel's turn at cross-examination. 7 RP 502. Despite this suggestion, on cross-examination, counsel did not ask White to explain or clarify regarding the diagram.

While the witness was demonstrating or explaining testimony using the diagram, the court made sure that the jury could see what he was pointing at. 7 RP 520, 521, 522.

c. The defendants waived a Confrontation
Clause objection where they failed to object
on these grounds at trial.

An appellate court generally will not consider a claimed error that was not raised in the trial court. *See* RAP 2.5(a). The general rule that an assignment of error be preserved includes an exception when the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). To meet RAP 2.5(a)and raise an error for the first time on appeal, an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). "Manifest' in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice." *Id.*, at 935.

In determining whether the error was identifiable, the trial record must be sufficient to determine the merits of the claim. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P. 3d 756 (2009). "If the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." *Id.*, at 99, quoting *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Here, none of the defense counsel raised a Confrontation Clause objection in the trial court. Although, as pointed out in detail above,

Barroso's counsel complained several times that he could not see adequately, he never made a record of what was the cause of this; whether

it was his seat at counsel table, a post that was part of the building, the witness was not facing him, or one of the other attorneys was blocking his view. All of his complaints were regarding issues lack of convenience and adapting to a crowded courtroom. None were based on the Confrontation Clause.

# d. There was no violation of the Confrontation Clause.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that a person accused of a crime has the right "to be confronted with the witnesses against him." Article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right ... to meet the witnesses against him face to face." The rights guaranteed under the Confrontation Clause include the right to have the witness physically present, to have that testimony offered under oath and subject to cross examination, and to provide the trier of fact with an opportunity to observe the demeanor of the witness. *State v. Foster*, 135 Wn.2d 441, 456, 957 P. 2d 712 (1998).

Because of *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004) the right to confront witnesses has recently been a topic of legal discussion and analysis, mostly as it applies to hearsay evidence. *Foster*, 135 Wn.2d 441, is a better example and

analysis of the "face to face" aspect of the confrontation right under
Washington law. There, the Supreme Court examined the constitutionality
of RCW 9A.44.150, which permits a witness to testify by closed-circuit
television in a child sex case. The Court held that the statute did not
violate the defendant's rights under the State or federal Constitutions.

Foster, 135 Wn.2d at 444, 470. See also Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836,
110 S. Ct. 3157, 111 L. Ed. 2d 666 (1990). In comparison, in Coy v. Iowa,
487 U.S. 1012, 108 S. Ct. 2798, 101 L. Ed. 2d 857 (1988), the United
States Supreme Court held that placement of screen between defendant
and child sexual assault victims during testimony against defendant
violated defendant's Confrontation Clause rights.

All of the above cases involve legitimate Confrontation Clause issues where counsel raised, preserved, and argued them in the trial court. In the present case, the obstruction was not a physical or video screen intentionally shielding the witness from the defendant; but perhaps a post was in counsel's way, or the witness' back was to him when the witness was drawing a diagram. The "obstructions" in this case could be, and were, easily remedied by counsel moving to where he could see.

The witnesses testified in person from the witness stand. All three defense attorneys were able to see and cross-examine any and all of the

witnesses. This is probably why counsel did not raise a legal objection regarding the Confrontation Clause in the trial court.

3. "ABIDING BELIEF" LANGUAGE IN THE REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION IS NEITHER UNCONSTITUTIONAL, NOR IMPROPER.

The "abiding belief" language in WPIC 4.01 has been discussed, and affirmed, repeatedly over the years. In *State v. Pitrle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P. 2d 245 (1995), the defendant argued that "abiding belief" invited the jury to convict under a preponderance test because it told the jury it had to have an abiding faith in the falsity of the charge to acquit. The Supreme Court concluded that WPIC 4.01 adequately permits both the government and the accused to argue their theories of the case. In *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 317, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007), the Supreme Court most recently again affirmed the language of WPIC 4.01.

Division I of this Court recently discussed this issue in *State v.*Federov, 181 Wn. App. 187, 200, 324 P.3d 784 (2014). Fedorov challenged the court's reasonable doubt instruction similar to the one given in the present case. He relied on *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), to challenge the "abiding belief" language. He claimed

the language was similar to the impermissible "speak the truth" remarks made by the State during closing.

Citing *Bennett*, and *Pirtle*, the appellate court rejected the argument. The Court distinguished *Emery* and found the "speak the truth" argument improper because it misstated the jury's role. Read in context, the reasonable doubt instruction accurately stated the law. *Federov*, at 200.

The "abiding belief" language has long been accepted in American jurisprudence. In *Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994), the United States Supreme Court traced the history of this concept and explanation of "reasonable doubt" to *Commonwealth v. Webster*, 59 Mass. 295, 320 (1850). The trial court did not err by including "abiding belief" language in the reasonable doubt instruction, #2. CP 152.

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF DRUGS IN THE VICTIMS' HOME.

Questions of relevancy are within the discretion of the trial court, and are reviewed only for manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 229 P.3d 669 (2010). The same is true of determinations of relevancy under ER 404. *See State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d

937 (2009). Even if the trial court ruling was erroneous, reversal is required only if there is a reasonable possibility that the testimony would have changed the outcome of trial. *Aguirre*, at 361.

Here, the State moved to exclude evidence of drug and alcohol abuse at the victims' apartment. CP 27, 6 RP 277. The defendants sought to admit evidence that there were illegal drugs in the victims' apartment. 6 RP 281. Fernandez-Medina's counsel argued that the evidence was *res gestae* of the crimes charged. 6 RP 281. The defense also argued that the evidence went to the credibility of the witnesses. 6 RP 288.

Before ER 404(b) evidence can be presented, the proponent must prove the acts by a preponderance of the evidence. *See State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). Here, there was no evidence that the powder was drugs. Neither the State, nor the defendants had had the substance tested. 6 RP 279, 281.

Res gestae or "same transaction" evidence is conduct or evidence that is an inseparable part of the crime charged. See 5 Washington

Practice, Evidence Law and Practice § 404.18 (5th ed.). Res gestae

evidence is most accurately applied and reviewed in the context of general relevance, not just ER 404(b). See State v. Briejer, 172 Wn. App. 209, 225, 289 P.3d 698 (2012), citing State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 645, 278 P.3d 225 (2012). In Briejer, this Court cautioned that when applying

the *res gestae* rule, trial courts should bear in mind the issues, facts and circumstances of the individual case. *Id.*, at 224-225. This is exactly what the trial court did in the present case.

Here, the crimes charged were burglary in the first degree and assault in the second degree. Neither involved an allegation of drug activity. There were no witnesses to drug use in the apartment. 6 RP 286. There was no evidence that the case had to do with drugs or drug transactions. 6 RP 288. The defendants had no evidence that the witnesses had been promised preferential treatment by the State. 6 RP 290.

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